1982

Jonathan Little and Hannah Little v. Utah State Division of Family Services : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This was a wrongful death action brought by the natural parents of Jennifer Little, a child who died while in foster care. Judgment was entered against the Utah Division of Family Services and damages awarded in the amount of \$20,000. The Division of Family Services appeals that judgment.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Third District Court, Judge Christine Durham, presiding, denied a motion to dismiss as to the Division of Family Services on July 13, 1979. Trial was held August 12 and 13, 1981, in the Third District Court before Judge Kenneth

Rigtrup. Judgment was entered against the Division of Family Services and \$20,000 damages awarded.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Appellant Division of Family Services seeks reversal of the denial of the Motion to Dismiss, and reversal of the judgment entered by Judge Rigtrup.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Jennifer Little, the 2 1/2 year-old daughter of the respondents, was removed from the custody of her parents by the Juvenile Court on April 6, 1977 (R. p. 101). The child was placed in the custody of the Utah Division of Family Services and placed first in a shelter home, then in a foster home in late April, 1977 (T. pp. 7, 20). The foster parents, Russell and Pearl Meik, were trained for therapeutic foster care, with emphasis placed on children with handicaps or special behavioral or emotional problems (T. pp. 15,16,69,70).

Jennifer Little had a history of behavioral and physical difficulties (T. pp. 47), and had been characterized as having autistic tendencies. One symptom exhibited by Jennifer was "head-banging," or the habit of hitting her head against stationary objects (T. p. 21).

The Meiks had several other foster children in their home, including Floyd Hooten, a 17 year-old, mildly retarded boy (T. p. 17). Floyd had, on several occasions, been asked

to babysit for both the Meik's children and their neighbors' children (T. pp. 261). A neighbor, Scott Lang, testified that Floyd was very responsible and gentle with the younger children, and had never been known to hit them or to exhibit any other violent or aggressive behavior toward the children (T. p. 262).

Connie Cowley, an experienced foster care worker, was assigned by the Division of Family Services to supervise the foster children placed in the Meik home, including Jennifer Little (T. p. 45). She arranged for medical and psychological testing of Jennifer, as well as specialized treatment and training through Project Pitch and the Developmental Disability Program (T. p. 54). When Mrs. Meik discussed Jennifer's head-banging with Connie Cowley, explaining that she always kept Jennifer nearby and held her during head-banging episodes so she would not hurt herself, the worker did not instruct Mrs. Meik to take any further action (T. p. 52). However, Jennifer had recently been medically examined, at the arrangement of Mrs. Cowley, and was scheduled for further medical and psychological treatment.

On June 4, 1977, two months after placement in the Meik foster home, Jennifer Little died of massive brain hemorrhage caused by sharp blows to the head (T. pp. 945, 119).

On that day, the child had been left for a short time in the care of her foster brother, Floyd Hooten. According to the police reports which were admitted as evidence, Floyd Hooten did inflict several blows to Jennifer Little's head on the day she died.

In December, 1978, Jonathan and Hannah Little, respondents, filed suit against the Utah Division of Family Services, alleging negligent placement and supervision of their child while in foster care. Defendants' Motion to Dismiss (April 5, 1979) based, among other things, on the Governmental Immunity Act, was denied as to the Division of Family Services, the lower court finding that the discretionary function exception did not apply to this case (R.pp.62,64). The State appealed the denial of the Motion to Dismiss (R. p. 83), but the interlocutory appeal was rejected by this Court (R. p. 103).

The State brought a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment in April, 1981, which was granted, dismissing the Second and Fourth claims in the complaint (R.p. 136). The first and third claims were remaining for trial which was set for August 12, 1981. After a two-day trial, judgment was entered for plaintiffs-respondents, and damages were awarded in the amount of \$20,000.

POINT I

IT WAS ERROR TO DENY THE APPELLANT
DIVISION OF FAMILY SERVICES' MOTION
TO DISMISS BASED ON THE UTAH
GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT.

The Division of Family Services brought a Motion to Dismiss in April, 1979, on the basis that plaintiffs' claims, which were founded upon the alleged negligence of the State in selecting and supervising the foster care placement of Jennifer Little, were barred by the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. Although granted in part, the Motion was denied as to the major issues and defendants in this action. The defendants/appellants asserted that governmental immunity should apply to this action because the foster care worker assigned to Jennifer Little necessarily was performing a "discretionary function" for which immunity is retained pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10(1). The district court held that the decisions relating to the placement, care and supervision of a child in a foster home are not discretionary. The appellants urge this court to very carefully consider the immunity question presented here. If governmental immunity is not retained for a program such as foster care, there could be serious consequences to the continued existence of individualized foster care. The State simply cannot

afford to be put in the position of an insurer, guaranteeing that nothing will ever happen to a foster child. If decisions regarding particular placements, care and treatment are to be continually at risk, those decisions will simply no longer be made. The State would have to protect itself and its workers by returning to institutionalized foster care, where the children can be watched around the clock.

Two questions need consideration by the court:

1. Although not raised below, it ~~must~~ be determined whether maintenance of a foster care program is a governmental function within the meaning of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act.

2. Does the discretionary function exception to the general waiver of immunity for negligence apply to this case?

A

THE DIVISION OF FAMILY SERVICES
IS IMMUNE FROM SUIT FOR INJURIES
WHICH RESULT FROM THEIR EXERCISE
OF A GOVERNMENTAL FUNCTION.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-3 reads:

Except as may be otherwise provided in this act, all governmental entities are immune from suit for any injury which results from the exercise of a governmental function, governmentally-owned hospital, nursing home, or other governmental health care facility.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-3 (1953).

Respondents based their claims on the alleged negligence of the Division of Family Services in the placement and supervision of Jennifer Little in foster care. However, the placement and supervision of foster care children is a governmental function conducted by the Division of Family Services for the State of Utah pursuant to statutory mandate, Utah Code Ann. § 55-15b-1, et seq., and therefore comes within the purview of Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-3. Traditionally courts have analyzed the nature of activity in which a governmental entity is engaged to determine whether it is a governmental function or a proprietary function. In Standiford v. Salt Lake City Corporation, 605 P.2d 1230 (1980) the Utah Supreme Court described several factors used by Utah courts in the past to determine whether a governmental function was involved. These included whether the activity was furnished for the general public good, whether there was pecuniary profit involved, and whether the activity was of such a nature as to be in real competition with free enterprise. The Court in Standiford, however, decided that a new test would be more appropriate and applied a test adopted by the Michigan Supreme Court. This test calls for determining whether the activity under consideration is of such a unique nature that it can only be performed by a governmental agency or that is essential to the core of governmental activity. Although this test

breaks abruptly with past precedent and is criticized vigorously by the dissenting judges, its application to the Division of Family Services' duties involved here still results in their categorization as governmental functions, as does the application of previous, more established tests. The Division of Family Services provides a service which is furnished for the general public good, it derives no pecuniary profit from its activities, and is not in real competition with free enterprise. The legislature has given the Division of Family Services the statutory duty to provide foster care, which indicates that the legislature considers this as an essential governmental function. The placement and supervision of foster children is in no way comparable to the operation of a golf course which the Court found in Standiford to be a non-essential governmental function. Similarly, foster care does not compare to the maintenance of a sewer system (Thomas v. Clearfield City, No. 17338, filed February 24, 1982) or a sledding hill in a park, Johnson v. Salt Lake City Corp., 629 P.2d 432 (Utah, 1981). Accordingly, this duty performed by the Division of Family Services should be considered a governmental function, and due to Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-3 the Division of Family Services is immune from suit for injury resulting from the exercise of this function.

B

THE DIVISION OF FAMILY SERVICES
IS IMMUNE FROM SUIT FOR INJURIES
RESULTING FROM THE PERFORMANCE
OR FAILURE TO PERFORM A DISCRETIONARY
FUNCTION.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10(1) specifies certain exceptions to the general waiver of governmental immunity for injuries proximately caused by negligent acts or omissions committed by a governmental entity.

Immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived for injury proximately caused by a negligent act or omission of an employee committed within the scope of his employment except if the injury:

(1) arises out of the exercise or performance or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function, whether or not the discretion is abused. . . .

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10(1) (1953) (emphasis added).

To determine whether a governmental activity is discretionary or non-discretionary many courts now apply the planning-operational test. 35 Am.Jur. Federal Tort Claims Act § 19; Carroll v. State Road Commission, 496 P.2d 888 (Utah, 1972).

To apply such a test to particular conduct, a court need only determine to what stage or level of decision-making the alleged negligent activity belongs. If the conduct pertains to the planning level it is discretionary, and if it pertains to the operational level it is non-discretionary. However, this neat dichotomy is not always helpful or accurate in determining whether a certain activity is discretionary or not.

The planning-operational level test may be workable when building a highway or designing a flight pattern, but it is simply inapplicable to a situation where the decisions at both the superior and subordinate levels deal with the care and needs of a particular person. It is very difficult to define an "operational level" in terms of the care of a human being.

For example, in the Carroll case, supra, the Utah Supreme Court gave some general guidelines as to what constitutes operational level decision-making. "[O]perational level acts are those which concern routine, everyday matters, not requiring evaluation of broad policy factors." 496 P.2d at 891.

The Court further stated:

. . .the decision of the road supervisor to use berms as the sole means of protection for the unwary traveler was not a basic policy decision essential to the realization or accomplishment of some basic government policy, program or objective. His decision did not require the exercise of basic policy evaluation, judgment, or expertise on the part of the Road Commission.

496 P.2d at 891.

In the present case, on the other hand, the decisions of Family Service employees regarding the placement, care and supervision of Jennifer Little or any other foster child are far from everyday, routine matters. They

do require the exercise of basic policy evaluations, judgment, and expertise on the part of the foster care worker. The realization and accomplishment of the foster care program rests upon the ability and freedom of foster care workers at any level to evaluate the needs of a particular child and the services that can be provided to that child by a particular foster family, and make whatever placement seems to be in the best interests of the child.

Subsequent to its decision in Carroll, supra, the Utah Supreme Court applied the discretionary function exception in a case factually much more similar to the present case. In Epting v. State, 546 P.2d 242 (Utah, 1976), the State of Utah was sued by a family of a person killed by a prisoner who had escaped from a work release program conducted by the Utah State Prison. The court held that the handling of a particular prisoner "arises out of the exercise of a discretionary function for which subsection (1) of Section 63-30-10 quoted above has retained sovereign immunity." 546 P.2d at 244.

The court's discussion of the discretionary nature of decisions regarding persons in the State's custody is instructive:

In regard to the problem: whether the placing of a prisoner in a 'work release' program comes within subsection (1) above quoted as 'the exercise. . . [of] . . . a discretionary function, . . .,' we make the following observations: The prison authorities are faced with the dilemma which has always existed in penal institutions: as to what extent they are furnishing an education for further crime, or for the rehabilitation of prisoners into useful citizenship. We think there is not much doubt that the use of work release programs is a worthwhile effort toward the latter objective. But that is within the discretion of the prison authorities to decide. In addition to the exercise of this judgment as to the value and practicability of such a program generally, there are problems about its advisability as to each individual prisoner. In order to weigh the positive values of possible benefit for him in such a program against the negative factors such as the likelihood of his escaping and engaging in more antisocial conduct, it is essential to consider the various aspects of his personality: his intelligence, aptitudes and qualities of character such as honesty, integrity and industry; and whether he has demonstrated a sincere desire to rehabilitate himself so that there is a reasonable probability that he will succeed. Accordingly, we agree with the view of the trial court that the handling of the prisoner Michael Hart was something which 'arises out of the exercise of a discretionary function' for which subsection (1) of Section 63-30-10 quoted above has retained sovereign immunity.

546 P.2d at 244 (emphasis added).

In Epting the court did not attempt to apply the planning-operational level test espoused in Carroll, supra. Human conduct, and the problems of caring for human beings do not lend themselves well to neat definitions or tests.

-15-

Several other courts have recognized that what appears to be conducted at the operational level is in reality a discretionary function. In Evangelical United Breth. Church of Adna v. State, 67 Wash.2d 246, 407 P.2d 440 (1966), the plaintiff Church brought action against the state for the loss of its church which was destroyed by a boy who escaped from an "open program" work detail at a state juvenile correction facility. The Court found that the decision to assign the boy to a program with more relaxed security measures was not operational level conduct but rather purely discretionary.

To this end, it calls into play the exercise of executive expertise, evaluation and judgment in an area involving many variable human, emotional and psychological factors and about which widely divergent opinions can and do exist. The decisions required are not unlike those called for in the legislative and judicial processes of government . . . The decisions involved were, within the framework of necessary executive and administrative processes of government, purely discretionary, if not in fact quasi-judicial in character. (Emphasis added.)

407 P.2d at 447.

Similarly, the Court in Jarret v. Wills, 235 Ore. 51, 383 P.2d 995 (1963), recognized that decisions concerning the amount of supervision required for a particular individual must necessarily be discretionary. Referring to a superintendent of a home for

the mentally deficient the Court stated:

His responsibilities require him to make constant discretionary judgment. Like the Board of Parole and Probation or the Superintendent of the State Hospital, he is required as the State's keeper of these unfortunates and in behalf of the state, to judge and govern human beings and human conduct, a judgment devoid of any of the standard weights and measures available for the decisions made by other public officials. There would be few of his decisions that would not be discretionary. 383 P.2d at 998.

These cases are particularly pertinent to the duties involved in the placement and supervision of Jennifer Little. All three courts recognized that discretion on the part of the employees was necessary for the proper functioning of the program involved. Similarly, the foster care program requires the foster care workers to exercise their discretion concerning their own assessments of the homes, families and children involved. Without this element of discretion a foster care program could not function, for not all foster children and foster parents are alike. Simple operational level decisions cannot possible apply to the program. All foster care decisions are of necessity discretionary.

The Utah Supreme Court recently stated that it had always followed the lead of cases interpreting the Federal Tort Claims Act in using the planning-operational level test to separate discretionary from non-discretionary governmental

functions. Frank v. State, 613 P.2d 517 (1980). However, federal courts have recognized the limitations on the applicability of this test. In a leading case dealing with the meaning of the word "discretion" as used by the Federal Tort Claims Act, the court recognized that the planning level of government action goes farther than the initiation of programs by administrations. (This is contrary to the decision of the district court in the present case.)

. . . [t]he discretionary function or duty . . . includes more than the initiation of programs and activities. It also includes determinations made by executives or administrators in establishing plans, specifications, or schedules of operations. Where there is room for policy judgment and decision there is discretion. It necessarily follows that acts of subordinates in carrying out the operations of government in accordance with official directions cannot be actionable. If it were not so, the protection of § 2680(a) would fail at a time it would be needed, that is, when a subordinate performs or fails to perform a causal step, each action or non-action being directed by the supervisor, exercising, perhaps abusing, discretion. (Emphasis added.)

Dalehite v. United States, 346 U.S. 15, 73 S.Ct. 956 (1953),
Id. At 36.

The United States District Court in Sullivan v. United States, 129 F.Supp. 713 (N.D.Ill. 1955) also recognized the necessity for an extension of the ideas of planning level discretionary action. That court held that any activity of a government employee at the operational level performed in accordance

with the official plan or program constitutes performance of a discretionary function since its source is discretionary.

Also, federal courts have shown an unwillingness to apply the test where the performance at the operational level is not clearly spelled out by exact specifications. Recently, the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals in Barton v. United States, 609 F.2d 977 (10th Cir. 1979), upheld the trial court's decision in dismissing a claim against the Bureau of Land Management for injury caused a rancher in temporarily denying grazing sights. The court found the Bureau of Land Management's decision to be discretionary and thus, the Bureau of Land Management was immune from suit for resulting injury. In assessing what functions constitute discretionary functions the court stated:

Concisely stated, the rule is that if--
a government official in performing his
statutory duties must act without reliance
upon a fixed or readily ascertainable stand-
ard, the decision he makes is discretionary
and within the exception of the Tort Claims
Act.

Id. at 979.

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