1982

# Jonathan Little and Hannah Little v. Utah State Division of Family Services : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-Respondents, JONATHAN and HANNAH LITTLE, filed an action in the District Court of Salt Lake County, for the wrongful death of their natural daughter, JENNIFER, as a result of the negligence of the Defendant-Appellant, Utah State Division of Family Services.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the District Court, sitting without a jury on August 12 and 13, 1981. The District Court found that the Division of Family Services had a duty to protect JENNIFER LITTLE from harm they knew or should have known was likely,



that the Division of Family Services breached such duty, and that JENNIFER'S death was the direct and proximate result of Defendant's breach of said duty. The Court entered judgment against the Defendant in favor of the Plaintiffs in the amount of \$20,000.00, plus funeral expenses and costs.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs seek to affirm the District Court's ruling and its judgment entered in favor of JONATHAN and HANNAH LITTLE.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Statement of Facts presented by the Appellant does not fairly and accurately describe the evidence at trial, and Respondents therefore submit their own Statement of Facts.

On March 16, 1977, a Warrant and Order of Temporary Placement directed to JENNIFER LITTLE was issued by the Second District Juvenile Court based upon a Petition filed by LOIS M. RUDD of the Division of Family Services. JENNIFER'S parents, JONATHAN and HANNAH LITTLE, appeared at the Juvenile Court hearing on April 6, 1977, without counsel and admitted the allegations of the Petition. The Utah State Division of Family Services was granted custody and guardianship of JENNIFER LITTLE pursuant to an Order of the Second District Juvenile Court. The Juvenile Court made the following findings:

Said child is dependent through no fault of the parents in that: (1) said minor has not developed properly and manifests autistic behavior; (2) said minor is in need of specialized assistance



which the parents are emotionally unable to provide. (Exhibit 1)

On April 25, 1977, JENNIFER was placed in the home of RUSSEL and PEARL MEIK, therapeutic foster parents for handicapped children and children with special problems. The MEIKS had insufficient special training for caring for children with autistic behavior. (R. 323, 61). Upon placement in the MEIK foster home, JENNIFER began periodically hitting her head against the floor and walls, and pulled hair from her scalp causing herself constant injury (R. 297). Mrs. MEIK would keep JENNIFER nearby and hold her during head-banging episodes. This conduct was reported by Mrs. MEIK to CONNIE COWLEY, the Division of Family Services case worker who had been assigned responsibility for JENNIFER'S case. CONNIE COWLEY observed bruises on JENNIFER'S face (R. 235). The foster care worker, however, did not instruct Mrs. MEIK to take any further precaution (R. 225). Mrs. LITTLE also expressed her concerns about JENNIFER'S condition to CONNIE COWLEY (R. 235). JENNIFER LITTLE, two and one-half ( $2\frac{1}{2}$ ) years old, died on June 4, 1977, as a result of injuries to her head (R. 280). At the time of her death, JENNIFER had bruises on her face and body which were of various ages and in various stages of healing. (R. 286). On that day, JENNIFER had been left in the care of another foster child living in the home, FLOYD HOOTEN, a mildly retarded seventeen (17) year old boy (R. 217). According to the police reports which were admitted as evidence, FLOYD HOOTEN may have hit JENNIFER several times on the head on the day she

died because she was fussing about going to the bathroom. No charges, however, were ever brought against him. (Exhibits 27 & 28).

In December, 1978, JONATHAN and HANNAH LITTLE, Respondents, filed suit against the Utah Division of Family Services, alleging a course of negligent conduct upon the part of the Appellant which culminated in the death of their daughter. The Appellant's Motion to Dismiss (April 5, 1979), based in part on the Governmental Immunity Act, was denied as to the Division of Family Services, the District Court finding that the discretionary function exception did not apply. (R. 62-64). After a two day trial, the District Court found that the Division of Family Services had a duty to protect JENNIFER, that the duty was breached, and that her death was proximately caused thereby. Judgment was entered for Plaintiffs and damages awarded in the amount of \$20,000.00, plus funeral expenses and costs. (R. 457-463, 158-162).

#### POINT ONE

TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED  
THE APPELLANT DIVISION OF FAMILY  
SERVICE'S MOTION TO DISMISS BASED  
ON THE UTAH GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY  
ACT.

Appellant, Division of Family Services, seeks absolute immunity for negligent actions performed by its employees and agents in the foster care program. Such a narrow interpretation of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, Section 63-30-1 et seq.,

is neither necessary or desirable. This Court has noted that the legislature, in drafting the Act, intended "to allow the Court flexibility and adaptability in fashioning consistent and rational limits to governmental immunity." Staniford v. Salt Lake City Corp., 605 P.2d 1230, 1232 (Utah 1980). Such a recognition is fully consistent with the need to balance the injury suffered by the individual citizen against the effect which the burden of recovery places upon the effective administration of government. Weighing these considerations, Respondent contends:

1. The foster care program of the Division of Family Services does not perform a governmental function within the meaning of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act.

2. Even if the foster care program is recognized as a governmental function, the discretionary function exception to the general waiver of immunity for negligence does not apply in this case.

A

THE MAINTENANCE OF A FOSTER CARE PROGRAM IS NOT A GOVERNMENTAL FUNCTION WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE UTAH GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT.

Section 63-30-3 of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, states:

Except as may be otherwise provided in this Act, all governmental entities are immune from suit for any injury which results from the exercise of a governmental function, governmentally owned hospital, nursing home, or other governmental health care facility.

In Staniford v. Salt Lake City Corp., supra, this Court held that the test for determining whether a particular state or municipal activity was a governmental function, depended upon if it was "of such a unique nature that it can only be performed by a governmental agency or that it is essential to the core of governmental activity." 605 P.2d at 1237. The Court pointed out that while the new standard broadened governmental liability, the Governmental Immunity Act did authorize the procuring of governmental insurance protection, the cost of which could be included within the budget of governmental entities, Id at 1237.

In Johnson v. Salt Lake City Corp., 629 P.2d 432 (Utah 1981), the Plaintiff brought suit against a city when her daughter's sled collided with an upright timber implanted in concrete on a golf course used for sledding during the winter. The District Court dismissed the case on the basis of governmental immunity. This Court, in reversing that dismissal, reaffirmed the validity of the "uniqueness test" for determining that scope of governmental function. The Court further clarified the parameters of the test by noting:

The first part of the Standiford test - activity of such a unique nature that it can only be performed by a governmental agency - does not refer to what government may do, but to what government alone must do, 629 P.2d at 434 (emphasis added).

In both Standiford and Johnson, the Court held that recreational activities maintained by a municipality were not of such a unique nature that they could only be conducted by a governmental ag-

ency.

Whether the maintenance of a city sewer system was essential to the core of governmental activity was at issue in Thomas v. Clearfield City, No. 17338, filed February 24, 1982 (Utah 1982). In this case, a blockage in the sewer line caused sewer water to collect in the Plaintiff's basement. The District Court granted the city's Motion for Summary Judgment on the basis of governmental immunity. In reversing the ruling of the District Court, the Court noted that even though the legislature had provided municipalities with the option to enforce mandatory hookups into city sewer systems, "it does not follow from this that the function automatically qualifies for governmental immunity as 'essential to the core of governmental activity.'" The Court noted, "(i)t is not even mandatory that a governmental entity perform these functions." No. 17338 at 3,4.

Utah's Governmental Immunity Act is similar to that of the State of Michigan. Staniford v. Salt Lake City Corp., 608 P.2d at 1236. In Robison v. City of Sterling Heights, 290 N.W.2d 43 (Mich. App. 1979), the Plaintiff was injured while working on a water main construction project for the Defendant municipality and brought action for damages. The trial Court granted Summary Judgment for the Defendant on the ground of governmental immunity. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial Court:

We conclude that . . . the operation of a municipal water system is not a governmental func-

tion. Since the government is not the only entity involved in supplying the public with drinking water, it is not an operation that can be effectively accomplished only by the government.

290 N.W. 2d at 45

The Court further went on to note that allowing tort liability would not result in an impermissible interference with effective government. Potential liability should simply be taken into consideration as a cost of performing the particular service. . . . .  
290 N.W. 2d at 45.

The Michigan Court of Appeals refined the governmental function test in Churchwell v. Board of Regents of the University of Michigan. 296 N.W.2d 75 (Mich. App. 1980). In this case the Plaintiff filed a Complaint alleging she sustained injuries through negligent treatment of the University of Michigan Hospital, and the trial Court dismissed on the basis of governmental immunity. The Michigan Supreme Court in Parker v. Highland Park, 404 Mich. 183, 272, N.W.2d 413 (1978), had held that the daily operation of a hospital does not constitute a governmental function. The Defendant sought to distinguish Parker by arguing that the University of Michigan Hospital was a teaching hospital affiliated with a legislatively mandated medical school, and had no counterpart in the private sector. 296 N.W.2d at 78. The Court of Appeals did not agree:

We do not find that the purpose, planning and carrying out of the day to day operation of the University Hospital can be effectively accomplished only by the Government. We recognize that,



from an economic standpoint, perhaps the operation of a medical school can only be so effectuated. This, in itself, is controvertible, however, when one considers that private institutions for the training of other health care professionals, such as dentists and nurses, do exist in the state. In any event, in applying the definition of governmental function, we must focus upon the precise operation sought to be held immune rather than overall or principal departmental operation.

296 N.W.2d at 78 (emphasis added).

The test for determining whether a particular governmental activity falls within the governmental function category hinges upon whether the activity is of such a value that it must be performed by the government. The criteria used to determine if the function must be performed by the government relates to whether the service being performed has any equivalent in the private sector and whether it is mandatory that the government perform the service. In the case before the Court, these criteria are not established. It is not mandatory that the State perform all foster care and other agencies also provide such care. There are at least three private agencies in Utah that maintain established foster care programs: Childrens Service Society of Utah, LDS Social Services, and the Catholic Community Service. Section 78-3a-39(11) U.C.A. (1953 as amended) specifically empowers the Juvenile Court to release children to the care of an individual or to a private agency or institution.

This Court should focus its analysis upon the precise governmental activity sought to be held immune rather than the



overall departmental operation. Respondent does not argue that every activity of the Division of Family Services does not fall within the category of a governmental function. The operation of the foster care program by the Division of Family Services is not "so essential to the core of governmental activity" that it "must" be performed by the state government. The foster care program is not a uniquely governmental activity, and has counterparts in the private sector. It does not meet the criteria needed to establish it as a governmental function within the meaning of Utah Code Annotated, 63-30-3. Mere legislative recognition does not automatically qualify the activity for governmental immunity, Thomas v. Clearfield City, supra, at 3.

B

EVEN IF THE FOSTER CARE PROGRAM  
IS RECOGNIZED AS A GOVERNMENTAL FUNC-  
TION, THE DISCRETIONARY FUNCTION  
EXCEPTION TO THE GENERAL WAIVER OF  
IMMUNITY FOR NEGLIGENCE DOES NOT  
APPLY IN THIS CASE.

The immunity from suit for the negligent performance of a governmental function is not absolute. The grant of immunity is limited by Section 63-3-10(1) of the Utah Code Annotated which states:

Immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived for injury proximately caused by a negligent act or omission of an employee committed within the scope of his employment except if the injury:

(1) arises out of the exercise or performance or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function, whether or not the discretion is abused.

In deciding whether any particular governmental function is discretionary and hence immune to suit, this Court has adopted the planning-operational test, Carroll v. State Road Commission, 27 Utah 2d 384, 496 P.2d 888 (1972). In applying this test, the Court, "has followed the lead of cases interpreting the Federal Tort Claim Act." Frank v. State, 613 P.2d 517, 519 (Utah 1980).

The United States Supreme Court first analyzed the discretionary function exception in Dalehite v. United States, 346 U.S. 15 (1953). The case arose from a fire and explosion in Texas which killed more than 500 persons. With two members of the Court not participating, and over the strong dissent of Justice Jackson, a four member majority concluded that discretion "includes determination made by executives or administration in establishing plans, specifications or schedules of operation. Where there is room for policy judgment and decision there is discretion." 346 U.S. at 35-36.

The broad definition of discretion pronounced by the Court in Dalehite was narrowed somewhat two years later in Indian Towing Co. v. United States, 350 U.S. 61 (1955). Plaintiff sought to hold the government liable for the negligent failure to maintain a lighthouse with the result that a ship and barge went aground and were damaged. In reversing the lower Court's dismissal on the basis of governmental immunity, the Supreme Court held that the original policy decision to implement the operation

of the lighthouse was discretionary. Once parties began to act in reliance on the lighthouse, however, the government was obligated to use due care in the maintenance of the light or to give warning that it was not functioning. 350 U.S. at 69.

In Doe v. McMillan, 412 U.S. 306 (1972), the Plaintiffs claimed that the Public Printer and the Superintendent of Documents invaded their privacy by publishing certain derogatory documents for use by congress and others. The Court held that while the Defendants were acting within the scope of their duties, the performance of these duties was not a discretionary function. The Court reasoned that mere affiliation with legislative action did not confer immunity. 412 U.S. at 323-24. To determine what areas of governmental conduct should be considered discretionary, the Court advised "a discerning inquiry into whether the contribution of immunity to effective government in particular context outweighs the perhaps recurring harm to individual citizens." 412 U.S. at 320.

The Supreme Court clearly considers the initial decision making and implementation of high level policy judgment to be a protected discretionary function. A charge in the course of the Missouri River, Coates v. United States, 181 F.2d 816 (8th Cir. 1950), or a decision to conduct tests of nuclear explosions, Bartholomae v. United States, 135 F.Supp. 651 (S.D. Calif. 1955), are examples of such policy judgments which have been granted immunity. The distinction between the planning

and preparation of governmental programs and the subsequent operation of those programs has been concisely summarized by the Ninth Circuit in United Airlines, Inc., v. Weiner, 335 F.2d 379 (9th Cir. 1964), cert denied 375 U.S. 951, 85 S.Ct. 452, 13 L.Ed.2d 549:

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